FILED
CHARLOTTE, NC

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NOV ™1 2007
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA
DISTRICT COURT
CHARLOTTE DIVISION WaLTSsN DRI OF NE

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA DOCKET NO. 3:06CR151

Y.

)

)

)

) PLEA AGREEMENT
VICTOR RONALD KUSTRA, )
)

NOW COMESthe United States of Amcrica, by and through Gretchen C.F. Shappert, United
States Attorney for the Western District of North Carolina, and the defendant. VICTOR RONALD
KUSTRA. in person and through counscl, Aaron Michel, and respectfully inform the Court that they
have reached the following agreement:

I. Plea

1. The defendant agrees to enter a voluntary plca of guilty to Count Onc charging the
defendant with Conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371 and Count Six charging the defendant
with Wire Fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 in the Bill of Indictment, and admits to being in
fact guilty as charged in the counts. In exchange for defendant’s guilty pleas as sct forth below, the
Government agrees that it will move to dismiss defendant from the remaining counts of the Bill of
Indictment at the time of sentencing.

I1. Sentence

2. The defendant is awarc that the penalty for Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud is:
a. a maximum 5 ycars in prison per count,
b. a maximum $2 50,000 finc per count,
c. a mandatory spccial assessment of $100.00 pcr count,
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d. a term of supervised release of not more than three years, and

C. an order from the court pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section
3663 that defendant make restitution to the victim(s) of the offensc of conviction, or
the estate(s) of the victims(s). Defendant understands that the court may also order,
if agreed to by the partics in this plea agrecment. restitution to persons other than the
victim(s) of the offense of conviction.

The defendant agrees that because the conduct underlying the Conspiracy (18 U.S.C. §371)
count of conviction was committed in conncetion with the conduct of telemarketing, 18 US.C. §
2326 may apply, this may subjcct the defendant to a term of imprisonment of up to 10 years in
addition to the term of imprisonment imposed for the Conspiracy. Defendant acknowledges and

agrees that the Government gave notice of this provision in the Bill of Indictment.

3 The defendant is awarc that the penalty for committing Wire Fraud is:
a. a maximum 20 ycars in prison per count.
b. a maximum $250,000 finc per count,
C. a mandatory special assessment of $100.00 per count,
d. a term of supervised release of not more than three years, and

an order from the court pursuant to Title 18, United States Code. Section

o

3663 that defendant make restitution to the victim(s) of the offense of conviction. or
the cstate(s) of the victims(s). Defendant understands that the court may also order,
if agreed to by the partics in this plea agreement. restitution o persons other than the
victim(s) of the offense of conviction.

Thedcefendant agrees that becausc the conduct underlying the Wire Fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1343)
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counts of conviction was committed in connection with the conduct of telemarketing, 18 U.S.C. §
2326 may apply, this may subjcct the defendant to a term of imprisonment of up to 10 years in
addition to the term of imprisonment imposed for the Wire Fraud. Defendant acknowledges and
agrees that the Government gave notice of this provision in the Bill of Indictment.

4, The defendant understands that supervised release is a term of supervision that runs
consceutively to any sentence of incarceration and that if the Court imposcs a term of supervised
rcleasc. the United States Probation Office will supcrvise him during that term and will require that
he make regular reports and visits to its office. The defendant understands that a violation of the
conditions of supcrvised release may subject him to an additional period of incarceration up to the
maximum term of years imposcd as supervised release.

3, The defendant is aware that the Court will consider the United States Sentencing
Guidelines [U.5.5.G ] in determining the appropriate scatence and that the sentenee will be without
paroic. The defendant is further aware that the Court has not yetdetermined the sentence, that any
cstimate from any source, including defense counscl, of the likely sentence is a prediction rather than
a promisc. and that the Court has the final discretion to Mposc any scatence up to the statutory
maximum for cach count. The defendant further understands that no reccommendations or agreements
by the United States arc binding upon the Court. The defendant and the Unitcd States agrec that the
United States Sentencing Guidelines cffective November 1.2006 arcapplicable to the determination
of the total offense level.

6. With regard to the United States Sentencing Guidelines. the defendant and the United
States. pursuant to Fed. R. Crim P. | He)1)(B), stipulatc and agree that the United Stafes can prove

beyond a reasonable doubt that :
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a. The amount of loss that was known to or rcasonably forcsceable by the
defendant was in excess of $70,000 but tess than $120,000 in fraudulent transactions with
over 250 victims.  The defendant understands that “loss” under USS.G. § 2811, of the
November 1. 2006 United States Sentencing Guidelines may be different from, greater, or
Iess than “restitution” under 18 U.S.C. § 3556,

b. The offense level for the subjeet offense group. Conspiracy to Commit Wirc
Fraud and Wire Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 371 and 1343 15 as follows:

(1) Basc Offense Level {/.5.5.G. ¢ 281 {(@)]: + 7

SPECIFIC CHARACTERISTICS:

(it} [USS.G. §2B1.I(b)(I)E)] Loss ]
(Morc than $70.000 but less than $120,000)

(i) [USSG §2B1IMii2)(C)] Multiple victims +6
(Morc than 250 victims)

vy [USSG. §2B11(B)&)A))] Misrepresentation +2
(Acting on behalf of a charitable organization)

(v) [US.S8.G. § 2B1.1(b)(9)(B)) +2
(Committed from outside the U.S.)
ADJUSTMENTS

vy [US.S.G. §341.1¢bj(1)] Vulnerable Vietim +2
TOTAL (without acceptance adjustment) 27

Misrepresentation. The partics agree that because the defendant knew that the
conspiracy and the scheme to defraud included the misrepresentation that the defendant and
his co-conspirators were working on behalf ofa charitable organization, atwo-level increasc

i offense level under U.S8.G. § 2811 (b)8)(A) applics.
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Committed from Qutside the United States. The partics agree that because the
defendant knew that a substantial part of the conspiracy and the fraudulent scheme was
committed outside of the United States. a two-level increase in offensc level under U.5.8.G,
§ 2B1.1(bj(9)B) applics.

Vulncrable Victim Adjustment. The partics agree that because defendant knew or
should have known that the victims of the conspiracy and the scheme to defraud werc
unusually vulncrable duc to age, physical or mentai condition, or that they were otherwise
particularly susceptible to the criminal conduct, a two-lovel mcercase in offense level under
USS8.G.§ 341.1¢hj¢!) applics. The partics agree further that many of the victims of the
conspiracy and scheme to defraud were targeted by the defendant and his co-conspirators
because they were particularly susceptible to the fraud scheme.

c. Provided that the defendant clearly demonstrates acee ptance of responsibility
for his offensc, as well as all relevant conduct. the government wiil recommend a two-level
reduction in offense level pursuant o U.8.5.G. S3EL Ifa).

d. Provided thatthe defendant qualifics for a decrease under subscction {/.5.5.G.
& 3E4.I(a). and that the offense level determined prior to the operation of subscetion
US.S5.G §3E 1 -Ifa) 1s level 16 or greater, and upon motion of the government stating that
the defendant has assisted authoritics in the investigation or prosccution of his own
misconduct by timely notifying authoritices of his intention to cnter a plea of guilty, thereby
permitting the government to avoid preparing fortrial and permitting the government and the
court to allocate their resources cfficiently, decrease the offense level by 1 additional level.

However, the defendant understands that any reduction in o ffense level is ultimately for the
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Court’s determination.

c. There is no agreement as to defendant's Criminal History Category.
Notwithstanding any recommendations in the Plea Agreement as to the offense level. if the
Probation Officc determinces from the defendant’s criminal history that U.5.5.G. § 48].1
(Carcer Offender) applics. that provision may be used in determining the sentence. Should
a statutory minimum sentence apply, the Court shall imposc a sentence no lower than that
statutory minimum.

7. Thedefendant agrees to pay full restitution. Defendant understands that with respect
to restitution, (a) as part of the sentence, the Court may order restitution be paid to any or all of the
vietims that defendant and the other coconspirators and participants in the scheme defrauded. and
(b) 1f the Court determincs that the conduct underlying the conspiracy to commit wirc fraud and the
wire fraud counts of conviction was committed in connection with the conduct of telemarkceting (as
defendant has admitted). restitution will be mandatory. Dcfendant agrees that the amount of
restitution ordered by the court shall include defendant's total otfense conduct, and is not limited to
the count(s) of conviction. Accordingly, the partics agree and will jointly recommend that defendant
pay restitution i the amount of $ 10,000,000 (ten million dollars). The defendant’s restitution
obligation shall be joint and several with that of his co-conspirators. The restitution described in this
paragraph shall be paid through the Office of the Clerk of the District Court.

The defendant agrees to truthfully complete a financial statement form provided by the
United States Attorney. The defendant shall date said form and sign it under penalty of perjury,
thereby acknowledging that his financial statement fully and compictely discloses his financial

condition as of the date it is signed. Defendant shall update the financial statement with any material
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changes to his financial condition. Defendant shall provide to the United States his signed and dated
financial statcment within 30 days of his signaturc on this plea agreement and any updates within
scven days of the event changing his financial condition. Defondant understands and agrees that his
financial statement will be used for the collection of any fine or restitution ordered by the Court, and
the 1dentification of property subjeet to forfeiture, The partics agree that the defendant’s failure to
timely and accurately complete and sign a financial statement and any updatc may, in addition to any
other penalty or remedy authorized by law, constitute his failurc to accept responsibility under
USSG §3E1]

For the preparation of his Presentence Report, the defendant agrees to cooperate fully with
and make a full disclosure of all current and projected assets and property to the United States
Probation Officc and to the United States. If the defendant is ordered to scrve a term of supervised
rclease or probation, he agrees to make a full disclosure of his asscts and property to the United
States Probation Office prior to the termination of his supervised release or probation.  [f the
defendant should fail to make the aforementioned full disclosures, then the United States will be
relicved of its obligations under the Plea Agreement. but the defendant will not be allowed to
withdraw his guilty plea.

8. The parties agree that if the Court imposcs the stipulated amount of mandatory
restitution set forth above, then no fine will be appropriatc. The partics agree further that in the event
that the Court does not imposc the recommended restitution, the Court may imposc a fine in its
discretion.

9. Beeause more than $500.00 in restitution. fines. and/or asscssment is owed to the

United States government, a licn will be filed. The defendant understands that once a licn is filed
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against his property. his obligation to pay restitution shall last for twenty years after any
imprisonment ordered or until his death. 18 U.S.C. § 3613.

10. Thedefendanthereby agreesto pay the total amount required for special assessments
($200) to the Clerk. United States District Court, before 5:00 p.m. on the day of sentencing. The
special assessment shall be paid through the office of the Clerk of the District Court. The defendant
further agrees to participate in the Inmate Financial Responsibility Program to the extent necessary
to fulfill all financial obligations duc and owing under this agrcement and the Law.

IIL. Goverament’s Recommendation Regarding Custody

11 Provided that the defendant complics with all the terms of this plea agrcement, the
Government will recommend that defendant be sentenced to the low end of the advisory guidcline
rangc as calculated by the Government pursuant to this Agrcement. However, if the Court adopts
an offensc level or downward adjustment or departurc below the Government's recommendations
in this Agreement, the Government may rccommend a scntence as near as possibic to what the
sentence would have been if the Government's recommendations had been followed.

1V. Procedurc

12. The defendant agrees that a duly-qualified federal Magistratc Judge may conduct the
hcaring required by Fed. R. Crim. P. 11.

13. With the Court’s permission, the factual basis. as required by Fed. R. Crim. P.
11{b)(3), will be deferred until the time of scatencing. The defendant stipulates that there (s a
factual basis for the plea of guilty and that the Court may use the offense conduct set out in the
Presentence Report, except any facts to which the defendant has objccted, to establish a factual

basis for the defendant’s plea.
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V. Waivers

14. I'he defendant understands and agrees that if ke should fail to specifically perform
or to fulfill completely cach and every one of his obligations under this Plea Agreement, then the
United States will be relieved of its obligations under the agreement, but the defendant will not be
allowed to withdraw his guilty plca.

15. Thedefendant is awarc that the law provides certain limited ri ghts to withdraw a plca
of guilty. The defendant has discussed these rights with defense counsel and knowingly and
cxpressly waives any right to withdraw the plea once the District Court has accepted it.

16. The defendant acknowledges that Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(6) and
Federal Rule of Evidence 410 are rules which ordinarily limit the admissibility of statcments madc
by a defendant in the course of plea discussions or plea proccedings if a guilty plea is later
withdrawn. The defendant knowingly and voluntarily waives the rights which arisc under these
Rules. As a result of this waiver, he understands and agrees that any statements which arc made
i the course of his guilty plea or in conncction with his cooperation pursuant to this plea agreement
wiil be admissible against him for any purposc in any criminal or civil proceeding ifhis guilty plea
is subscquently withdrawn.

17. The defendant understands and agrees that by pleading guilty, he is expressly

waiving the following rights:

a. to be tricd by a jury,

b. to be assisted by an attomcy at trial,

c. to confront and cross-cxamine witnesscs, and
d. not to be compelled to incriminate himself,
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18, Defendantand defendant’s counsel warrant that they have discussed: (1)defendant’s
rights pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3742, 28 U.S.C. § 2255. and similar authoritics to contest a
conviction and/or sentence through an appeal or post-conviction afier cutering into a plea
agreement; (2) whether or not there arc potential issues which might be relevant to an appeal or
post-conviction action; and (3) the possible impact of any such issue on the desirability to the
defendant of entering into this plea agreement.

Dcfendant. in cxchange for the concessions madc by the United States in this Plca
Agreement. waives all such rights to contest the conviction and/or any scatence within the
maximum provided by the statute of conviction cxeept for (1) claims of incffective assistance of
counscl or (2) prosccutorial misconduct.

Also, in cxchange for the concessions made by the United States, dofendant agrees that the
United States preserves all its rights and duties with respect to appeal as set forth in 18 U.S.C. §
3742(b), whilc the defendant waives all rights to appcal or collaterally attack the sentence of
conviction with the cxceptions set forth above. This agreement does not limit the United States in
its comments in oF responscs 1o any post-conviction matters.

16. The defendant waives all rights, whether asserted dircetly or by a representative, to
requestor to receive from any department or agency of the United States any rccords pertaining to
the investigation or prosccution of this case, including without limitation any rccords that may b¢
sought under the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552, or the Privacy Actof 1974, 5 U.S.C.
§ 552a.

20. The defendant stipulates that any sentence that falls within the applicable guideline

range as determined by the United States Probation Office and pursuant to any dcparturcs from the

10
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applicable rangce as recommended by the government is per se reasonable. The defendant waives
any right to contest such a sentence on the basis that the Court's imposition of such a sentence was
unrcasonablc or an abusc of its discretion.

21 If thc Pre-Sentence Investigation (hercinafter "PSI") recommends however an
applicable Guidelincs range higher than the Guidelines range jointly recommended by the partics
in this agreement. the defendant may at his discretion file with the Court a "variance motion"
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) to consider the factors listed thercin., not later than seven (7)days
prior to sentencing, to adjust the Guidelines range to a level not lower than the level Jjointly agreed
upon by the partics in this plca agreement.

VL. Assistance to Government

22. If requested by the United States, but only if so requested. the defendant agrees to
cooperate with the United States. including but not limited to the following:

a. The defendant will provide truthful information about the subject charges
and about any other criminal activity within the defendant’s knowledge to any government
agent or ageney that the United States designates.

b. The defendant will testify truthfully in any trial, hearing, or grand jury
proceeding, including. but not limited to. testimony against any co-defendants, as the United
States designates.

c. The defendant will truthfully disclose all monics. ncgotiable instruments,
sceuritics, or other things of valuce that are proceeds of or have been involved in, or have
been used or intended to be used to facilitate a violation of state or foderal law. The

dcfendant further agrees to voluntarily forfeit said property to the United Statces,

i1
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d. In the cvent that the defendant’s cooperation includes testifying, the
defendant hercby waives payment of any witness foes or expenses to which he may be
otherwisc entitled pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1821.

c. The defendant understands that the United States desires only truthful and
accurate information and testimony and, in fact, that knowingly giving falsc information or
testimony can be prosceuted as an additional criminal offensc,

Further, if the defendant knowingly gives false testimony, the United States will be
rclieved of its obligations under this Plea Agreement. cxcept that the defendant’s plea of
guilty and the resulting guilty verdict will stand.

f. The defendant will not violate any federal, state, or local law. or any order
of any court, including any conditions of pretrial, pre-sentence, or post-sentence releasc,

Nothing that the defendant discloses pursuant to this Plca Agreement will be used
against him in any other criminal proceeding, subject to the following exceptions:

(i). the United States or other jurisdiction may usc any and all rclevant
nformation regarding crimes of violence;

(i) the United States may usc any and all information as necessary in a
prosceution for perjury. or in any trial for impcachment or rcbuttal:

(iit).  if the defendant withdraws his plea of guilty. the United States may
usc any and all disclosurcs in any subscquent trials or criminal proceedings;

(iv). if the defendant violates any of the terms of this Plea Agreement,
uicluding the obligation to provide truthful information, then the United States may

usc any and ali disclosurcs in subscquent trials or criminal proceedings; and

12
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(v).  the United States may make indireet use of any information that the
defendant provides, including investigative leads or other witnesses.

g The defendant’s obligation under this scetion is a continuing one, and will
continuc after sentencing until all tnvestigations andior prosccutions to which the
defendant’s cooperation may be relevant have been completed. This provision is a matcrial
condition of this Plca Agreement and of all benefits that acerue to the defendant pursuant
to this agreement.

In the interests of fulfilling all obligations under this section. the defendant agrees
to waive all rights under Chapters 213 and 208 of Title 18 until such time as the United
Statcs determines that all relevant investigations and/or prosceutions have been completed.

h, Thedefendant fully understands that any breach of'this agrcement, including
but not limited to withholding information, mislcading the Untted States or any law
enforcement officer, or failing to testify truthfully at any trial, grand jury, or other Judicial
proceeding, will allow the government, in its sole discretion, to withdraw from its
obligations under this Plea Agreement. In such cvent, the United States will be free to
procced on any properly-filed pending, superseding, or additional charges, including any
charges dismissed pursuant to this agreement.

23. When and if the defendant assists the government as deseribed above:

a. The United States. in its sole discretion, will determine whether said
assistance has been substantial.

b. Upon adetermination that the defendant has rendered substantial assistancc,

the government may make a motion pursuant to U.5.5.G. & 3K1./ for imposition of a

13
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sentence below the applicable Sentencing Guidelines. The United States may also, within
1ts solc discretion, move the Court pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3553(c) to 1mposc a sentence
below any applicable statutory mandatory minimum.

The defendant recognizes that, even if the United States makes a rccommendation
pursuant to /.5.8.G. § 5K/ . the Court cannot depart below the statutory minimum unless
the United States also includes a specific recommendation pursuantto 18 U.S.C. § 3553(c).

c. Regardless of the naturc and cxtent of any substantial assistance that the
defendant renders. the United States will not move for a downward depanture if the
defendant also knowingly furnishes information that is matcrially falsc.

d. Any determination that the defendant has failed to providc substantial
assistance or has knowingly provided false information is within the solc discretion of the
United States. and the defendant waives all objections and rights of appcal or collateral
attack of such a determination.

c. The defendant understands that if the United States makes a motion for
downward departurc. the motion is not binding on the District Court. The Court will
determine in its discrction whether to grant or deny such departure and the extent of the

departurc.,

14
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VIi, Conclusion

24, The defendant understands that if he breaches this Plea Agreement, or violates any
federal, state or local law, or any order of any court, including any condition of pre-trial or pre-
scntencee, or post-sentence release. the United States will be relieved of its obligations under this
Plea Agreement, but the defendant will not be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea. The United
States will be free to proceed on any properly-filed dismissed, pending, superseding, or additional
charges.

25, There are no agreements, representations, or understandings between the partics in
this casc, other than those expticitly sct forth in this Plea Agreement and none will be entered into
unlcss exccuted In writing and signed by all partics.

SO AGREED:
GRETCHEN C.F. SHAPPERT

United States Attorney
Western District of North Carolina

Ny 3R “tigh, Cri 'ny'vision
{ - DATED: Zé?é{ VY 9
PﬁT%/ B/LOEWENBERGTrial Attorncy

CK M. DONLEY. Scnior L}&ganon Counscl
L.S. D(,partmult of Justice _

- .o \—‘1 '.; { - ! .
R e DATED: !c/{ g( te Tl

AARON MICHEL. Attorncy for Defendant

A%——’/'/ ~ DATED: LQ@:L?&ZZ

\‘u’crq}f{ RONALD KUSTRA. Defendant
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